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Pacific Law, Law Offices of Steven Schectman
Steven Schectman, SBN 98556

1125 16" Street, Suite 205

Arcata, CA 95521

(707)825-8000 (707)825-6719 fax

Attorney for Plaintiffs Union of Medical Marijuana Providers, Arts District Patient’s Collective,
Inc., dba Arts District Healing Center, James Shaw

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA
PROVIDERS, INC. ,ARTS DISTRICT
PATIENT’S COLLECTIVE, INC, dba ARTS
DISTRICT HEALING CENTER, JAMES
SHAW

Case No.:

COMPLAINT FOR CIVIL RIGHTS
VIOLATIONS (BIVENS CLAIM)
DECLARATORY RELIEF AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiffs,

_V_

UNITED STATES FEDERAL DRUG
ENFORCEMENT AGENCY (DEA),
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
JUSTICE, TIMOTHY J. LANDRUM,
SPECIAL AGENT IN CHARGE OF THE
LOS ANGELES FILED OFFICE OF THE
DEA, DEANNE REUTER, ACTING GROUP
SUPERVISOR LOS ANGELES FIELD
OFFICE OF THE DEA, DOES 1-100

Defendant.
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(1) The Union of Medical Marijuana Providers (UMMP) as well as the Arts District
Healing Center have brought this action in order to prevent the Drug Enforcement Agency, and its
agents, from frustrating the implementation of California's Compassionate Use Act, otherwise
known as the Medical Marijuana Act (hereinafter referred to as the CUA) through extrajudicial
threats. The DEA has sent letters ("the letter" [see Exhibit 1]) to most of the commercial property
owners in the Los Angeles area, that lease their commercial property for a purpose which is
authorized by California law, specifically The CUA, as well as the City of Los Angeles’s City
Code.

(2) These laws specifically authorize legally compliant Co-ops, Collectives and or
Caregivers to maintain a premise for the distribution of medical marijuana to qualified patients.
Not withstanding these laws the DEA sent letters, threatening commercial property owners with
up to 20 years in prison and forfeiture of their property, and specifically stating without any
limitation that state law is not a defense. One such letter was sent to the plaintiff's landlord, LA
CITIPROPERTIES, LLC.

(3) After receiving the letter, the landlord filed an unlawful detainer action against the
plaintiff, alleging the lease was illegal.

The plaintiff's contract with the landlord in this case expressly states that the property will
be used as a medical marijuana dispensary, and that it is governed in all respects by California
law. The DEA has not shown that contracts such as the one in this case are illegal. Their assertion
is merely their own self-serving analysis of the law. Rather than proceed through judicial
channels, the DEA has resorted to extrajudicial terror tactics to thwart the Compassionate Use Act.

(4) Consistent with such threat, the DEA, in apparent retaliation, executed a search warrant
when the plaintiffs opposed the landlord's unlawful detainer action that brought the legality of the
“landlord letter” into question.

(6) The actions of the DEA and its agents violate the rights of the plaintiffs in several
respects. It violated the plaintiff's right to due process when it declared by administrative fiat
plaintiff’s contract was illegal. It violated their first amendment rights and their right to equal
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protection under the law when it selectively raided Arts District Healing Center in retaliation for
exercising their right to litigate.

(7) The DEA also runs afoul of several California laws. Starting with the true underlying
issue, the DEA has plainly taken the position that it will not honor the rights of people to lease
commercial property for the purpose of providing their members medical marijuana under
California law. This is a plain violation of California Civil Code § 52.1(b), which provides for an
action by "any individual whose exercise or enjoyment of rights secured by the Constitution or
laws of the United States, or of rights secured by the Constitution or laws of this state, has been
interfered with, or attempted to be interfered with." Such an action may be brought against any
person, "whether or not acting under color of law." (And, of course, the DEA's federal
Constitutional violations also give rise to violations under Civil Code § 52.1.)

(8) Further, the DEA has violated the California extortion statute, Penal Code § 518, which
provides, that "extortion is the obtaining of property from another, with his consent, or the
obtaining of an official act of a public officer, induced by

." Penal Code § 519 states that "fear," such as will constitute
extortion, may be induced by a threat to accuse the individual of any crime. In this case, the DEA
effectively "obtained" the property by threatening the landlord with imprisonment, forcing him to

do the DEA's bidding.

(9) This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 USC § 1331 (federal question
jurisdiction). Declaratory judgment is sought pursuant to 28 USC § 2201 and 2202.

(10) This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims pursuant to 28 USC §
1367 (claims that are so related to federal claims that they form part of the same case or
controversy).

(11) Venue is properly in this district pursuant to 28 USC § 1391(b)(2) (judicial district
in which a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred, or a

substantial part of property that is the subject of the action is situated), and (e)(2) (action against
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federal officer or agency, district in which a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise
to the claim occurred, or a substantial part of property that is the subject of the action is situated).
!

(12) Plaintiff the Union of Medical Marijuana Providers (UMMP) is a duly authorized
California Corporation and is a legal advocacy group whose purpose is to advocate and legally
protect those entities who, pursuant to California Health and Safety Code § 11362.5 et seq, legally
assist qualified patients in obtaining medicinal marijuana.

(13) The Arts District Patient’s Collective, Inc., dba Arts District Healing Center (“The
Center”), has been legally incorporated pursuant the applicable laws of California. It has been and
continues to operate as a collective pursuant to California Health and Safety Code §11627.77 at all
times relevant to this action. All of its members are qualified patients pursuant to California
Health and Safety Code §11621. The Center is the intended beneficiary of the lease for the
property located at 620 East 1** Street, Los Angeles, California, (the “subject property”) and has in
fact paid the rent for the premises.

(14) Plaintiff JAMES SHAW is the individual who, for and on behalf of The Center,
entered into a lease for the subject property from Defendant LA CITIPROPERTIES, LLC. The
parties to the lease agreed that the use of the premises would be for a “medical marijuana
dispensary pursuant to the law of Los Angeles and the State of California.”

(15) Defendant United States Federal Drug Enforcement Agency is an agency of the
federal government, within the Department of Justice.

(16) Defendant Units State Department of Justice is a Federal Agency who is charge with
overseeing enforcement of Federal Law and litigation. Defendant DEA is an agency within the
U.S. Department of Justice.

(17) Defendant Timothy j. Landrum, is sued herein in his official capacity as Special
Agent in charge of the Los Angeles filed office of the DEA. He is the Agent from the DEA who

signed the at issue DEA letter send to plaintiffs.
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(18) Defendant Deanne Reuter, is sued herein in her official capacity as Acting Group
Supervisor Special Agent the Los Angeles field office of the DEA. She is the agent from the DEA
Special Agent Landrum identified as the contact person within the LA office of the DEA for
further information regarding the contents of the letter.

(19) The true names and capacities of Defendants sued as Does 1-100 are unknown to
plaintiffs at the time of filing this complaint. Plaintiffs reserve the right the name additional

defendants if and when their name and capacity become known.

(20) In 1996, the People of the State of California enacted Proposition 215, the
Compassionate Use Act (CUA) and the legislature codified it in California’s Health and Safety
Code § 11362.5 et. seq., which provides for the legal use of marijuana for medical purposes, upon
certain conditions. The CUA exempts a patient, or a patient's primary caregiver, who
possesses or cultivates marijuana for the personal medical purposes of the patient upon the written

or oral recommendation or approval of a physician, from prosecution under California law.

(21) Pursuant to the CUA, plaintiff The Arts District Healing Center has been and
continues to operates a legally complaint medical marijuana dispensary, in leased premises at
620 E- 1st St, Los Angeles, CA for all times relevant to this action.

(22) On or about November 22, 2005 plaintiffs entered into fixed-term commercial lease
with L:A: CITIPROPERTIES, LLC. The lease specifically states that the plaintiffs will be
operating a medical marijuana dispensary pursuant to the CUA and the applicable Los Angeles
Ordinance. The lease further specifies that in all regards it shall be governed by California law.
[See Exhibit 2]

(23) On or about July 6, 2007, the LA Field Division of the DEA office sent a letter to L. A.
CITIPROPERTIES, LLC, as well as up to 150 other similarly situated commercial property
owners, by certified mail, which states that the DEA has determined that the defendant owns a

building in which there is a marijuana dispensary. The letter ("the landlord letter"), signed by Los
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Angeles DEA Special Agent in Charge, Timothy J. Landrum, threatens the recipient with up to 20
years of imprisonment and forfeiture of his property. The letter states in part:

"Federal law takes precedence over State law. It is not a defense to this crime or to the

seizure of the property that the facility operating on the property is providing 'medical

marijuana' under California law including the provisions of California Prop. 215."

(24) Under California law, the plaintiffs are a legal dispenser of a legal medical product,
dispensed only upon recommendation of a licensed physician.

(25) The threat in the letter of up to 20 years imprisonment and forfeiture of property for
entering into a commercial lease governed by California law for a purpose specifically authorized
by state and local law, is unsupported by any legal authority. Furthermore, the DEA is not
empowered to issue legal opinions on matters of preemption, and it is most certainly not
empowered to interfere with a legal contractual relationship in its zeal to prevent implementation
of the Compassionate Use Act.

(26) The Controlled Substances Act preempts state law only in the event of a "positive
conflict." 21 USC § 903. The plaintiffs are entitled, pursuant to California Health and Safety
Code 11362 et seq., to possess and to make available to its members, a legal medical product,
dispensed only upon recommendation of a certified physician. In fact, despite the DEA's opinion,
the Compassionate Use Act is not in positive conflict with the Controlled Substances Act, and is
not preempted.

(27) On September 5, 2007, entirely on the basis of the landlord letter, the plaintiff's
landlord, LA CITIPROPERTIES, LLC, initiated an action for unlawful detainer and rescission of
the lease. Los Angeles Superior Court case no. 07U-09846. (See Exhibit 3)

(28)The plaintiff, JAMES SHAW on behalf of the Arts District Healing Center, filed an
answer and commenced discovery in the unlawful detainer action, and trial was set initially for
October 2, then continued to October 15, 2007. Prior to the trial, the parties stipulated that most of
the issues to be determined in the trial would be related to the legal assertions contained in the

DEA letter sent to the owners of the property.
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(29) On October 11, 2007, four days prior to the scheduled trial, agents from the Los
Angeles office of the DEA executed a search warrant at 620 E. 1st St. As a result of the execution
of that warrant, unknown quantities of marijuana and currency were seized. Additionally several
bank accounts were frozen and the funds seized.

(30) Prior to seeking the at issue search warrant, defendant DEA had sent out many dozens
of the same type of letter received by the owners of 620 E. 1st St. to other property owners in the
LA region. Each one of those letters contains the statement that the, “DEA has determined there is
a marijuana dispensary, operating at the property (the name of the specific property is inserted).
This is a violation of federal law”.

(31) However unlike all the other “dispensaries” identified and thoroughly investigated by
the DEA, plaintiff Arts District Healing Center was one of the only ones, if not in fact the only
one, that had availed itself of the California judicial system in order to litigate the legality of the
assertions contained in the DEA letter.

(32) Subsequent to the execution of the search warrant, Plaintiff Arts District Healing
Center did not shut down and did proceed to trial in the DEA inspired Unlawful Detainer. The
case came to trial on October 15. The trial court dismissed the action because the relief requested
was beyond the subject matter jurisdiction allowed in California’s Unlawful Detainer statutes.
Consequently, and as a result, the resolution of the substantive issue remains unresolved.
However the trial Judge, the Honorable Carol Goodson, explicitly stated in her order that the
matter should be litigated in a general litigation courtroom, for a full determination of the issues to
be decided in court. The judge also opined that she felt confident both the property owner and the
tenant in this matter should be protected while this matter proceeds in the courts.

(33) On October 19, 2007 counsel for the Arts District Healing Center sent a letter to
Special Agent Timothy Landrom of the Los Angeles office of the DEA in which the above
reference facts regarding the vindictive and retaliatory search warrant application and execution
were explained. The letter requested that the DEA agree to disclose to the Court the Good Faith
basis of why any application for a search warrant of the Arts District Healing Center was being
sought at that particular time and the factual basis the decision to seek the warrant was made. No
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request was made by plaintiff that the DEA disclose any of this information to anyone other that
the Judge to whom such application was made. Attached and marked as Exhibit 4.

(34) On or about October 24, 2007 Michael Seidel, Acting Associate Chief Counsel of the
Administrative Law Section of the US Department of Justice Drug Enforcement Agency sent a
reply letter. Attached and marked as Exhibit 5. Such letter failed to address any of the concerns
Plaintiffs set forth in their letter of October 19™. Instead the letter appeared to be a generic form
letter that described how a citizen may use the FOIA Request Procedure to obtain information that
Plaintiff did not seek. In short, the response has left Plaintiff Arts District Heading Center and
James Shaw with the very real concern that the DEA will continue to use its police powers in an
inappropriate manner in order to retaliate against them for their continued assertions of their
constitutional rights to seek redress in any duly constituted courts.

(35) On November 27, 2007 and in accordance with the State court's order, the plaintiffs
have filed a declaratory judgment action in the California Superior Court, to determine their rights
as a lessee under California law. Case no. 07U21837 And the landlord, LA CITIPROPERTIES,
LLC, on October 4, 2007 petitioned for a writ in the Superior Court Appellate Division. Case no.
070U09846. Plaintiff's First Amendment rights to freedom of speech and association, their Fifth
Amendment Right to due process, and their rights under the Compassionate Use Act and other

California statutes, remain imperiled.

! #  WBivens -

(36) By their intentional interference with the plaintiff's contractual rights under color of
law, achieved by unlawfully terrorizing the plaintiff's landlord, the defendants have willfully
deprived the plaintiff of his property rights without due process of law, in violation of the Fifth
Amendment.

I
I
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(37) The defendants executed the raid on the plaintiff's premises on October 11, 2007, and
the concomitant seizure of assets and freezing of funds, in retaliation for the plaintiff's exercise of

his First Amendment right to petition the government.

y ( 012 3-

(38) The actions of the DEA constitute violations of the plaintiff's federal rights, as stated
in Counts 1 and 2, and also of his rights to petition the government (Cal Const. Art 1, § 3(a), and
due process (id., § 7) under the California Constitution. These acts also violate the plaintiff's
rights under the California Compassionate Use Act. Consequently, it is in violation of California
Civil Code § 52.1, which provides a private right of action against any person, whether or not
acting under color of law, interferes by threats, intimidation, or coercion, or attempts to interfere
by threats, intimidation, or coercion, with the exercise or enjoyment by any individual or
individuals of rights secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or of the rights

secured by the Constitution or laws of this state.

(39) The defendants obtained effective control over the landlord's property, and over the
plaintiff's leasehold interest, by threat of prosecution. This conduct is "extortion" under California
Penal Code § 518, which provides, that "extortion is the obtaining of property from another, with
his consent, or the obtaining of an official act of a public officer, induced by a wrongful use of

force or fear, or under color of official right."
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(40) The acts of defendants as set forth above constitutes an unlawful use of their police
powers as it relates to their decision to seek a search warrant application for the premises of
plaintiffs, Arts District Patient’s Collective, Inc., dba Arts District Healing Center and James
Shaw. Said plaintiffs have a justifiable concern that defendants will continue to use their police
powers for vindictive and retaliatory purpose. Consequently, plaintiffs seek a preliminary
injunction to ensure that any Judge, if and when presented with a search warrant application for
the at issue premises, is affirmatively provided an explanation by the requesting law enforcement
agency the good faith reasons they have to seek the warrant against these plaintiff during the time
period commencing with the filing of this action up to and including the final disposition of this

action.

4. 5 (
y & & -

(41) The acts of defendants as set forth herein as it relates to the “letter” sent to
Commercial Property Owners who have leased their property to legally authorized Medical
Marijuana Providers pursuant to California Law constitute an impressible act. As such plaintiff
seek a permanent injunction against the DEA, prohibiting any further publication of the "landlord
letter," such as the one sent to the plaintiff or any similar letter threatening legal lessors under the

CUA with punishment under federal law.

$ " 6%
For the violations set forth above, the plaintiff prays for:
(1) Monetary damages, according to proof
(2) A permanent injunction against the DEA, prohibiting any further publication of the
"landlord letter," such as the one sent to the plaintiff or any similar letter threatening legal lessors
under the CUA with punishment under federal law.

(3) A preliminary injunction to ensure that any Judge, if and when presented with a search
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warrant application for the at issue premises, is affirmatively provided an explanation by the
requesting law enforcement agency that sets forth the good faith reasons they have to seek the
warrant against these plaintiff during the time period commencing with the filing of this action up
to and including its final disposition.

(3) costs of suit herein

(4) reasonable attorney’s fees

(5) such other relief that is in the interest of justice.

Dated: December 6, 2007 By
Steven Schectman
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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